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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Diagnostic Photon Corporation, Syncor Overseas, Ltd. and
Syncor International Corporation
NRC Inspection Report Nos. 52-19134-02MD/96-01, 999-90002/96-03
and 999-90002/96-04

This special, announced inspection was conducted to review the control and
conduct of licensed activities at the Diagnostic Photon Corporation’s (DPC’'s)
radiopharmacy located in Carolina, Puerto Rico. This included a review of the
11censed radiation safety program. The inspection was conducted because the
President of DPC had reported on June 28 and July 3, 1996, that Syncor
International Corporation (SIC) had taken control of licensed activities. The
inspection included direct observation of activities in progress, discussions
with cognizant DPC and Syncor Overseas, Ltd. (SOL) representatives, review of
documents, and review of the organization and scope of the DPC's program.

Within the scope of the inspection, six apparent violations of NRC
requirements were identified. The apparent violations involved: (1) the
apparent transfer of control of licensed activities on the part of DPC without

rior NRC consent, (2) the apparent failure of SIC to obtain a valid NRC

icense prior to possessing, us1n? and distributing bvproduct materials in
Puerto Rico, (3) the apparent failure of SOL to obtain a valid NRC license
Er1or to possessing, using and distributing byproduct materials in Puerto

ico, (4) the failure of DPC to notify NRC of the credentials of appointed
Authorized Nuclear Pharmacists within 30 days of their beginning work, (5) the
failure of DPC to train personnel on the requirements of 1ts operating and
emergency procedures and license, and (6) the use by DPC of unauthorized
operating procedures.

LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED

Licensee

*). Caamafio, M.D., President and Radiation Safety Officer
N. Oidham, Alternate Radiation Safety Officer
*A. Gonzdlez Géigel, Esq.., Licensee's Counsel

Syncor Overseas, Ltd.

R. Green, Pharmacist
#f . Pefla, Office Manager
#J). Simon, Pharmacist

ipggc Inggmgrigml Corporation
. Pefia, Office Manager

#J. Simon, Pharmacist

* By telephone during both the inspection and exit interview
# Represented both Syncor International Corporation and Syncor Overseas, Ltd.
during the exit interview with SOL on July 29, 1996



REPORT DETAILS

Background

License No. 52-16345-02MD was originally issued to DPC on July 27, 1983,
and was most recently amended on April 18, 1995. As a result of
rulemaking, on March 1, 1996, the license’'s expiration date was extended
to April 30, 2005. The license authorizes the possession and use of
byproduct materials for the preparation and distribution of radicactive
drugs (radiopharmaceuticals) to authorized recipients in accordance
with conditions specified therein. The license also authorizes the
preparation and distribution to authorized recipients of therapeutic
iodine-131 radiopharmaceuticals but such activities have never been
conducted at the licensee’'s facility (pharmacy).

On February 6, 1996, DPC entered into a Management Agreement (Agreement)
with SIC which was effective on March 1, 1996. The Agreement specified
that SIC would have control over the management and operation of the DPC
pharmacy and SIC's use of DPC's licenses. The Agreement also committed
DPC's management to promptly sign agg]ications for any and all of its
licenses, and allowed SIC to make all decisions related to the pharmacy
and to conduct all affairs as SIC deems appropriate. In addition, the
Agreement specified that DPC's President, who is the designated
Radiation Safety Officer (RSO) on the NRC license, was to be retained as
a consultant and that all other DPC employees. including the Alternate
RSO designated on the NRC license, were to become employees of SIC.

Circumstances Leading to the Inspection

In early Marc' 1996, DPC's President advised the NRC that he had
recently allowed SIC to manage his pharmacy pending a potential transfer
of the business and all applicable federal and local permits. He
requested an inspection at that time to make sure SIC was properly
conducting licensed activities under his license. After discussions
with the inspector, it was determined that, due to the short time that
SIC had been involved in DPC's operation and the lack of negative
safety-significant information available, an inspection was not
warranted at that time. DPC’'s President was informed that NRC believed
it would be Erudent to delay any inspection for approximately three
months and that it was important that he carefully monitor the
transition in operations.

On Marcn 25, 1996, DPC requested an amendment to its license. The
letter referenced the Agreement and mentioned a pending transfer of the
Ticense to SIC. On June 14, 1996, SIC personnel replied to questions
raised by the NRC in a May 15, 1996 letter regarding the requested
amendment. The reply addressed, among others, the use of new labels and
transport containers and a bioassay program related to the intended use
of iodine-131. The reply further stated "We are aware that changes
requested may not be implemented until final approval is received from
your agency.” The letter indicated a place for signature, but was not
signed by the President of DPC. NRC replied to SIC's June 14, 1996
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letter by indicating that its letter seeking a license amendment must be
signed by the President of DPC in order for NRC to continue its review
of the amendment request. On June 28, 1996, DPC's President indicated
during a telephone conversation with NRC that he had not signed the
letter because he was not sure that iodine-131 could be handled safely
at his facility.

During the same June 28, 1996 conversation, the NRC inquired about the
status of DPC operations to determine whether an inspection was
warranted at that time. DPC’'s President indicated that: (1) he had Tost
control over licensed activities, (2) he did not 1ike the way in which
activities were being conducted at his facility, and there was little he
could do to rectify the situation, (3) there was too much turnover of
dispensing pharmacists and their credentials were unknown to him, and
(4) he wished that NRC 1ns?ect his facility as soon as possible. The
NRC then spoke with SIC's lead representative on site, who faxed

Region II a cogy of the Agreement. The SIC representative indicated
that he used the Agreement as his basis for justifying his actions
involving his control over the pharmacy. The SIC representative
indicated that such actions included the implementation of the
NRC-1icensed program.

On July 3, 1996, NRC, Region II, after legal and technical review of the
Agreement, telephoned DPC's President and informed him that it appeared
that, since March 1, 1996, DPC had been in violation of 10 CFR 30.34(b),
which prohibits the transfer of control of an NRC license without prior
NRC consent. The President was informed that if neither he, as the RSO,
nor the Alternate RSO designated on the license, were in control of
licensed activities, there was no valid license under which SIC was
operating. The President indicated that he would try to regain control
of licensed activities at his facility.

On July 16, 1996, SIC assigned its interest in the Agreement to Syncor
Overseas, Ltd. (SOL), Citco Building, Wickhams Cay, P.0. Box 662, Road
Town, Tortola. British Virgin Islands. On July 19, 1996, SOL, requested
NRC to transfer DPC's NRC license to their name and that a new RSO be
named. NRC's response to this request is discussed in Section 4 of this
report.

On July 22, 1996, DPC's Alternate RSO was escorted out of the facility
by SOL ggrsonnel with instructiuns that she not return to the facility.
On or about the same date, SOL personnel changed the locks of all
entrance doors to the facility and did not provide keys to DPC's
President. Since then, DPC's President/RSO has not had keys to the
facility and the Alternate RSO named on the license has been prohibited
from entering the building.

The inspector conducted an onsite inspection on July 26 and 29, 1996.
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3.1.1

Inspection Results

Observations and Findings Regarding DPC

Control of Licensed Activities

10 CFR 30.34(b) provides that no license issued by the Commission, nor
any right under a license, be transferred, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, directly or indirectly, through the transfer of control
of a license to any person unless the Commission, after securing full

information, finds that the transfer is in accordance with the
provisions of the Atomic Energy Act and gives its consent in writing.

As part of the inspector’s attempt to ascertain who was in control of
licensed activities, the inspector determined the following:

a.

From review of records and discussions with SOL representatives,
between March 1 and July 16, 1996, . | between July 16 and July
29. 1996, SIC and SOL, respectively otated pharmacists who
Bracticed at various SIC pharmacies .ocated on the mainland into
PC at a frequency of approximately once every two weeks. During
teiephone discussions with DPC's President, the President
indicated he continued to be unable to ascertain the
qualifications of the pharmacists who were dispensing at his
facility because he did not want to create conflicts. The
inspector indicated that it was his responsibility to ascertain
the qualifications of the pharmacists and the President indicated
he would try to do so. SOL representatives stated that it was SIC
and SOL who designated the nuclear pharmacists during their
respective periods of operation, not DPC.

The pharmacist representing SOL the weeks of July 15 and 22, 1996,
stated to the inspector on July 26, 1996, that he used SIC's
Operations Manual for the conduct of lTicensed activities and that
he had not received training on DPC’s ogerating and emergenc
procedures. The pharmacist indicated that he felt comfortable
that SIC's manual would be at least as thorough as DPC's. While
inspecting DPC's packaging, container labels and unit dose
containers, the 1nsgector noted that they were not the ones
routinely used by DPC but were the ones seen by the inspector to
be routinely used at other SIC facilities in the mainland. The
inspector also noted that the transport containers and labels in
use were the ones for which approval was sought in the June 14,
1996 letter, which 1s the same letter to which the President of
DPC objected because it included references to the use of
gg?ine-131. These issues are discussed further in Section 3.1.3
oW .

The languages in the Agreement assigned SIC to make all decisions
related to the ?harmacy and conduct all affairs as SIC deems
aporopriate. Also, SIC would have control over the management and
operation of the DPC pharmacy and SIC's use of DPC's Tlicense.



4

This authority was transferred to SOL by SIC on July 16, 1996
without DPC consent. Neither of these assignments of control were
consented by the NRC.

d. The DPC RSO and Alternate RSO were restricted from access to the
pharmacy. Through discussions with the DPC RSO, Alternate RSO and
SOL representatives, the inspector determined that the Alternate
RSO was escorted from the facility on July 22 by SOL staff. This
action was related to a purchase and gift transfer of
thallium-201, a transaction that SOL considered contrary to
another agreement between DPC and SIC. SOL representatives stated
that the alleged 1napggo?riate transfer of thallium-201 was the
reason for changing t ocks to the facility. An SOL
representative indicated that, if and when DPC's President/ RSO
wishes to access the facility to supervise licensed activities as
required by his function as RSO, he must be allowed in by SOL
personnel without restriction but SOL personnel must be onsite
whenever the RSO is present. Through discussions with SOL
representatives, the inspector further learned that, during June
and July 1996, DPC's RSO seldom frequented the facility to
supervise licensed activities. DPC's President stated to the
inspector that his lack of attendance was due to his intentior to
avoid conflicts.

e. Ac described further in Section 2, the SIC lead representative at
the pharmacy, indicated, on June 28, 1996, that the Agreement
allowed him to contro! the pharmacy. The representative indicated
this included implementation of NRC-licensed activities.

Based on: (1) the 1an?uage contained in the Agreement which addresses
the transfer of control of the operation of the pharmacy and SIC's use
of DPC's licenses, as summarized in Section 1 of this report, (2) the
President of DPC's statements during the June 28, and July 3 and 26,
1996 conversations regarding loss of control over licensed activities
and his inability to ascertain the credentials of dispensing pharmacists
at his facility, (3) the fact that SIC and SOL dictated who t

Authorized Nuclear Pharmacists (ANPs) would be, without any input from
DPC management, (4) the fact that, at least during the weeks of July 15
and 22, 1996, it was SIC's operating and emergency procedures that were
being implemented, not DPC's, (5) the fact that the pharmacist who
worked during the weeks of July 15 and 22, 1996 did not receive training
on DPC's operating and emergency procedures or the Ticense because *t
was his understanding that he was to operate under SIC's Operations
Manual, (6) the fact that SIC and SOL representatives implemented
changes to the licensed program without DPC or NRC approval by changing
the labels and transport containers to conform with SIC's standard
operating practices, (7) the SIC representative’s understanding that the
Agreement allowed him to control NRC Ticensed activities at the
pharmacy, (8) the fact that the Alternate RSO was prohibited by SOL from
entering the pharmacy (9) the fact that DPC's President and RSO has been
denied the keys the pharmacy, and (10) the lack of presence of the RSO
during June and July 1996 to supervise licensed activities and his
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reliance on SIC and SOL pharmacists, whose credentials are unknown to

him, to supervise the 1icensed program, the inspector concluded that an

aggarent transfer of control of the NRC Ticense occurred without prior
consent .

The transfer of control of the NRC license without the NRC's prior
consent was identified as an apparent violation of
10 CFR 30.34(b).

il it Cr ials of ANP

10 CFR 32.72(b)(5) requires that a licensee provide the Commission a
copy of each individual's certification by the Board of P..armaceutical
Specialties. the Commission or Agreement State license and a copy of the
-tate pharmacy licensure or registration, no later than 30 days after
the date that the licensee allows the individual to work as an
Authorized Nuclear Pharmacist (ANP).

Through discussions with DPC and SOL representatives and reviews of
records, the inspector determined that between March 1 and July 29,
1996, DPC allowed six individuals to practice as ANPs. As of the date
of this report, DPC has failed to submit to the NRC the credentials of
all the individuals who had been allowed to work as ANPs within 30 days
of their beginning work. SOL representatives indicated that it was
DPC’s responsibility to submit the required credentials in a timely
manner. DPC's President indicated he was unable to obtain them, and,
therefore, he was unable to submit them. The inspector reminded DPC
representatives that although control of the license may have
transferred, such transfer had not been authorized by the NRC and,
therefore, DPC remained the licensee. Based on this, the inspector
indicated that DPC was required to comply with the reporting
requirement. The failure to submit to the NRC the credentials of
individuals designated as ANPs within 30 days of their designation as
such was identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 32.72(b)(5).

Operating and Emergency Procedures and Personnel Training

Condition 20 of License No. 52-16345-02MD requires that the 1icensee
conduct its program in accordance with the statements and procedures
contained in the licensee's application dated December 7, 1988, and
letters dated April 20, 1989, March 2, 1994, and April 5, 1995.

10 CFR 19.12 requires, in part, that individuals who in the course of
employment are |ikely to receive in a year an occupational dose in
excess of 100 millirems be instructed in the applicable provisions of
Commission regulations and licenses.

As discussed in Sec' on 3.1.1 above, the pharmacist representing SOL the
weeks of July 15 and 22, 1996 stated to the inspector on July 26, 1996,
that he was operating under SIC's Operating Manual and showed the
inspector a copy of the manual. The manual contained procedures and
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instruction on how to carry out SIC's operations. The pharmacist also
stated that the training program for all new personnel consisted of the
standard SIC training manual and videotape, and that it did not include
the provisions of DPC's operating and emergency procedures contained in
DPC's license. The pharmacist further stated that he had not received
training on the licensee's procedures and instructions contained in the
licensee’s application dated December 7, 1988, and letters dated

April 20, 1989, March 2, 1994, and April 5, 1995. This became evident
to the inspector when the inspector saw SOL staff sugervised by the
pharmacist using SIC's transport containers and labels and SOL's
shipping papers. DPC's transport containers, labels and shipping papers
are described in DPC’'s license application dated December 7, 1988.

The failure to conduct operations in accordance with the statements and
procedures contained in the licensee's application dated December 7,
1988, and letters dated April 20, 1989, March 2, 1994, and April 5,
1995, during the weeks of July 15 and 22, 1996, was identified as an
apparent violation of Condition No. 20 of License No. 52-16345-02MD. In
addition, the failure of the licensee to train a pharmacist on the
operating and emergency procedures contained in the Ticense was
identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 19.12.

Findings Regardin n

10 CFR 30.3 requires, with exemptions not applicable here, that no
person manufacture, produce, transfer, receive, acquire, own, possess or
use byproduct material except as authorized in a specific or general
license issued pursuant to the regulations contained in Title 10 of the
Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR).

Based on the discussions in Section 3.1.1 above, the inspector concluded
that between March 1 and July 16, 1996, and between July 16 and 29,
1996, SIC and SOL. respectively, conducted activities subject to NRC
licensing without a valid NRC license. Specifically, in their
respective timeframes, both SIC and SOL used licensed materials and
controlled the use of the NRC license issued to DPC without consent of
the NRC in violation of the transfer of control provisions specified in
10 CFR 30.34(b). Since the transfer was not approved by the NRC and
there was no other license issued to SIC or SOL for use of byproduct
materials at the pharmacy, the conduct of activities subject to
licensing without a valid NRC license was identified as an apparent
violation of 10 CFR 30.3.

n n ion

In response to the NRC onsite inspection findings. a Confirmatory Action
Letter (CAL) was issued to SOL on July 29, 1996, confirming SOL's
agreement that DPC be in control of the license and that activities be
conducted in accordance with DPC's approved radiation safety program.

On August 19, 1996, the SOL President, responded to the CAL in writing
to the NRC. The letter described restrictions to the DPC RSO on access
to the facility. However, it indicated the RSO and DPC held
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responsibility and control for the license. The letter informed the NRC

that SOL operations in Puerto Rico were being conducted under DPC’s

license and that DPC's President was afforded all necessary access to

the facility to supervise licensed activities as RSO. The NRC

determined the access described in the letter allowed adequate control

g; th?bgPC license to comply with 10 CFR 30.34, if implemented as
scribed.

On August 8, 1996, the NRC replied to SOL's July 19, 1996 request to
transfer DPC's license to their name and to change the RSO. The NRC
reply indicated that SOL's request of July 19, 1996 could not be
approved because 1t was not signed by the licensee or a person duly
authorized to act on behalf of the licensee.

On July 29. 1996, the NRC wrote a letter to DPC discussing the
inspection findings and an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.34(b). The
letter indicated that DPC must maintain control of its NRC Ticensed
activities and provided the results of the July 29 CAL with SCL/SIC.

On August 5, 1995, DPC's counsel informed NRC that SOL continued to
hinder the DPC RSO from effectively controlling operations conducted
under the license without specific examples. NRC replied on August 19,
1996, and requested specific examples.

On August 27, 1996, DPC's President advised NRC that he had recently
learned of SOL's July 19, 1996 letter requesting transfer of his
license. DPC's President indicated that the NRC staff should disregard
such letter since he did not want the transfer of the license to occur
or the change in RSO to be made. He also expressed concern that SIC/SOL
?ersonnel had been communicating issues directly to NRC relevant to his
icense without his knowledge. On September 3, 1996, DPC's counsel
addressed, in writing, the possibility of litigation with SIC and
rescission of the Agreement and other contracts for, among others, the
?lleged “continued failure to ... cooperate with the transfer of
icenses.”

On September 12, 1996, SOL applied for a separate license to operate at
DPC's facility. On September 18, 1996, SIC/SOL representatives were
told by Region II that the license application will be submitted to the
NRC Headquarters in Washington, D.C., to evaluate the implications of
licensing two separate entities to operate in the same facility.

i in r

An exit interview was held separately with DPC and SOL representatives
at the conclusion of the onsite inspection on July 29, 1996. The
overall findings from the inspection, including the apparent violations
were discussed. No dissenting comments regarding the transfer of
control of the license were received from DPC. An additional exit
interview via telephone was conducted with DPC's President on

September 16, 1996, in which additional apparent violations were
discussed as a result of further review of this case. Regarding the
rest ¢ the apparent violations DPC's President took exception
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discussing his lack of control of licensed activities as specified in
Section 3.1.2 above.

The lead SOL representative onsite on July 29, 1996, took exception to

the inspection findi
indicated that, if D

ggs

involving SIC and SOL. The SOL representative

were not in control of licensed activities, SOL

would have proceeded with activities they desired to conduct that DPC’s
President did not want to conduct. The SOL representative indicated
that such activities included compounding and distributing therapeutic

dosages of iodine-131.

Based on this, the lead SOL representative

onsite contended that a transfer of control over the license had not
occurred, and therefore SIC operated and SOL had been operating under a
valid 1icense, DPC's, all along. Regarding the activities that SOL
wanted to conduct against the wishes of DPC's President, the inspector
noted that SIC/SOL requested NRC to amend the DPC license to allow the
changes without consent of DPC. The inspector further indicated that
the preponderance of the evidence. the facts as understood by the
inspector and the conduct of the parties involved led to the inspector’s
conclusion that a transfer of control of the NRC license had taken place

without NRC's consent.

Proprietary information was reviewed as part of the inspection but is
not contained in this report.

ITEMS OPENED AND DISCUSSED

OPENED
96001-01

96001-02

96001-03

96001-04

999-90002/96003-01
999-90002/96004-01

VIO

vIO

VIO

VIO

VIO
VIO

UNAUTHORIZED TRANSFER OF CONTROL OF AN NRC
LICENSE

FAILURE TO SUBMIT CREDENTIALS OF ANPs WITHIN 30
DAYS OF BEGINNING OF WORK

FAILURE TO INSTRUCT PERSONNEL ON THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE LICENSEE'S LICENSE AND
OPERATING AND EMERGENCY PROCEDURES

USE OF UNAUTHORIZED OPERATING PROCEDURES
SOL OPERATING WITHOUT A VALID NRC LICENSE

SIC OPERATING WITHOUT A VALID NRC LICENSE



UNITED STATES
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
OFFICE OF NUCLEAR MATERIAL SAFETY AND SAFEGUARDS
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20555

May 1. 1996

NRC INFORMATION NOTICE 96-28: SUGGESTED GUIDANCE RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF CORRECTIVE ACTION

Addressees

A1l material and fuel cycle licensees.

Purpose

The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) is issuing this information
notice to provide addressees with guidance relating to development and
implementation of corrective actions that should be considered after
1dentification of violation(s) of NRC requirements. [t is expected that
recipients will review this information for applicability to their facilities
and consider actions. as appropriate. to avoild similar problems. However,
suggestions contained in this information notice are not new NRC requirements:
therefore, no specific action nor written response 15 required.

Background

On June 30, 1995. NRC revised 1ts Enforcement Policy (NUREG-1600)° 60 FR
34381, to clarify the enforcement program's focus by. 1n part. emphasizing the
importance of identifying problems before events occur. and of taking prompt.
comprehensive corrective action when problems are identified. Consistent with
the revised Enforcement Policy. NRC encourages and expects 1dentification and
prompt . comprehensive correction of viclations.

In many cases. licensees who i1dentify and promptly correct non-recurring
Severity Level IV violations. without NRC involvement. will not be subject to
formal enforcement action. Such violations will be characterized as "non-
cited" violations as provided in Section VII.B.1 of the Enforcement Policy.
Minor violations are not subject to formal enforcement action. Nevertheless.
the root cause(s) of minor violations must be ident1fied and appropriate
corrective action must be taken to prevent recurrence.

[f violations of more than a minor concern are 1dentified by the NRC during an
inspection, licensees will be subject to a Notice of Violation and may need to
provide a written response, as required by 10 CFR 2.201. addressing the causes
of the violations and corrective actions taken to prevent recurrence. In some
cases. such violations are documented on Form 591 (for materials licensees)

9664290193

‘Copies of NUREG-1600 can be obtained by calling the contacts listed at
the end of the Information Notice.
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which constitutes a notice of violation that requires corrective action but
does not require a written response. If a significant violation is involved.
a predecisional enforcement conference may be held to discuss those actions.
The quality of a licensee s root cause analysis and plans for corrective
actions may affect the NRC's decision regardin? both the need to hold a
predecisional enforcement conference with the lTicensee and the level of
sanction proposed or imposed.

Discussion
Comprehensive corrective action 1s required for all violations. In most
cases. NRC does not propose imposition of a civil penalty where the licensee
promptly identifies and comprehensively corrects violations. However. a

Severity Level III violation will almost always result in a civil penalty if a

licensee does not take prompt and comprehensive corrective actions to address
the violation.

-~

[t 1s important for licensees. upon 1dentification of a violation, to take the
necessary corrective action to address the noncompliant condition and to
prevent recurrence of the violation and the occurrence of simlar violations.
Prompt comprehensive action to improve safety 1s not only in the public
interest. but is also in the interest of licensees and their employees. In
addition. 1t will lessen the likelihood of receiving a civil penalty. Compre-
hensive corrective action cannot be developed without a full understanding of
the root causes of the violation,

Therefore, to assist licensees. the NRC staff has prepared the following
guidance., that may be used for developing and implementing corrective action.
Corrective action should be appropriately comprehensive to not oniy prevent
recurrence of the violation at issue. but also to prevent occurrence of

sim lar violations. The guidance should help in Tocusing corrective actions
broadly to the general area of concern rather than narrowiy to the specific
violations. The actions that need to be taken are dependent on the facts and
circumstances of the particular case.

The corrective action process should 1nvolve the following three steps:

e Interviews with individuals who are either directly or indirectly
involved 1n the violation. including management personnel and those
responsible for training or procedure development/guidance.
Par‘1cular attention should be paid to Tines of communication
etw:2n <upervisors and wor:=rs.
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e Tours and observations of the area where the violation occurred,
particularly when those reviewing the incident do not have day-to-
day contact with the operation under review. During the tour.
individuals should look for items that may have contributed to the
violation as well as those items that may result in future
violations. Reenactments (without use of radiation sources, if they
were involved in the original incident) may be warranted to better
understand what actually occurred.

o Review of programs, procedures. audits. and records that relate
directly or indirectly to the violation. The progre hould be
reviewed to ensure that its cverall objectives and r.. uirements are
clearly stated and implemented. Procedures should be reviewed to
determine whether they are complete. logical, understandable, and
meet their objectives (i.e.. they should ensure compliance with the
current requirements). Records should be reviewed to determine
whether there 15 sufficient documentation of necessary tasks to
provide an auditable record and to determine whether similar
violations have occurred previously. Particular attention should be

paid to training and qualification records of individuals involved
with the violation.

2. ify the r f the viol n.

Corrective action 1s not comprehensive unless it addresses the root
cause(s) of the violation. It is essential. therefore. that the root
cause(s) of a violation be identified so that appropriate action can be
taken to prevent further noncompliance 1n this area. as well as other
potentially affected areas. Violations typically have direct and
indirect cause(s). As each cause 15 identi1fied, ask what other factors
could have contributed to the cause. When 1t 1s no longer possible to
1dentify other contributing factors. the root causes probably have been
1dentified. For example. the direct cause of a violation may be &
failure to follow procedures: the indirect causes may be inadequate
training. lack of attention to detai1l. and inadequate time to carry out
an activity. These factors may have been caused by a lack of staff
resources that, in turn, are indicative of lack of management support.
Each of these factors must be addressed before corrective action 1S
considered to be comprehensive.




IN 96-28
May 1. 1996
Page 4 of 6

It is important to take immediate corrective action to address the
specific findings of the violation. For example. if the violation was
issued because radioactive material was found 1n an unrestricted area.
*{.gqigxg corrective action must be taken to place the material under

censee control in authorized locations. After the immediate safety
concerns have been addressed, timely action must be taken to prevent
future recurrence of the violation. Corrective action is sufficiently
comprehensive when corrective action 1s broad enough to reasonably
pre¥ent recurrence of the specific violation as well as prevent similar
violations.

In evaluating the root causes of a violation and developing effective
corrective action. consider the following:

1
& s

%

Has management been informed of the violation(s)?

Have the programmatic implications of the cited violation(s) and the
potential presence of similar weaknesses in other program areas been
considered in formulating corrective actions so that both areas are
adequately addressed?

Have precursor events been considered and factored into the corrective
actions?

In the event of loss of radioactive material. should security of
radioactive material be enhanced?

Has your staff been adequately trained on the applicable requirements?
Should personnel be re-tested to determine whether re-training should be
emphasized for a given area? [s testing adequate to ensure
understanding of requirements and procedures?

Has your staff been notified of the violation and of the applicable
corrective action?

Are audits sufficiently detailed and frequently performed? Should the
frequency of periodic audits be increased?



10.

11.

iz

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.
20.
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Is there a need for retaining an independent technical consultant to
audit the area of concern or revise your procedures?

Are the procedures consistent with current NRC requirements. should they
be clarified, or should new procedures be developed?

s a system in place for keeping abreast of new or modified NRC
requirements?

Does your staff apéreciate the need to consider safety in approaching
daily assignments?

Are resources adequate to perform, and maintain control over, the
licensed activities? Has the radiation safety officer been provided
sufficient time and resources to perform his or her oversight duties?

Have work hours affected the employees  ability to safely perform the
Jjob?

Should organizational changes be made (e.g.. changing the reporting
relationship of the radiation safety of “icer to provide increased
independence)?

Are management and the radiation safety officer adequately involved in
oversight and implementation of the licensed activities? Do supervisors
adequately observe new employees and difficult. unique. or new
operations?

Has management established a work environment that encourages employees
to raise safety and compliance concerns?

Has management placed a premium on production over compl:ance and
safety? Does management demonstrate a commitment to compliance and
safety?

Has management communicated 1ts expectations for safety and complidance?

Is there a published discipline policy for safety violations, and are
employees aware of 1t? [s 1t being followed?
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This information notice requires no specific action nor written response. If
you have any questions about the information in this notice, please contact
one of the technical contacts listed below.

signed by signed by
E11zabeth Q. Ten Eyck, Director Donald A. Cool. Director
Division of Fuel Cycle Safety Division of Industrial
and Safeguards and Medical Safety
Office of Nuclear Material Safety Office of Nuclear Material Safety
and Safeguards and Safequards
Technical contacts: Nader L. Mamish, OE Daniel J. Holody. RI
(301) 415-2740 (610) 337-5312
Internet .nim@nrc . gov Internet :djh@nrc.gov
Bruno Uryc. Jr.. RII Bruce L. Burgess. RIII
(404) 331-5505 (708) B829-9666
Internet : bxu@nrc . gov Internet -blb@nrc . gov

Gary F. Sanborn. RIV
(817) 860-8222
Internet - gfs@nrc. gov

Attt oments:
1. List of Recently Issued NMSS Information Notices
2. List of Recently Issued NRC Information Notices



factors in arm stthea

However, {f a licanses refuses to correct
& minor violetion within s reasonable
time such that it willfully continuee. the
violation should be categorized et ieast
st o Severity Level IV,

D. Violations of Reporting Requirements
The NRC expects licensaes (o provide
complete, sccurete, and umely
information and reports. Accordingly,
unless otherwise in the
Supplements, the sevarity leve! of o
violaton involving the fatlure to make
8 required re to the NRC will be
based upon the significance of and the
circumstances s the matter
that should have boan
However, the severity level of an
untimely report, in contrast to no report,
may be reduced depending on the
circumstances the matter.
A licenses will not y be cited for
s fsilure to report & condition or event
unless the licenses wes sctually sware
of the condition or event that it falled
to report. A licensee will, on the other
hand, normally be cited for a failure to
report & condition or evant if the
licensee knew of the information to be
reported, but did not recognize that it
was required to make & report.

V. Predecisionsl Enforcement
Conferences

Wheneve: the NRC has learned of the
sxistence of & potential violation for
which escalated enforcement action
appears 1o be warranted, or recurring
nonconformance on the pert of e
vendor, the NRC may provide an
opportunity for s predecisional
eniorcement conference with the
licensee, vendor, ar other person belore
taking enforcemaent action. The purpose
of the conference is to obtain
information that will assist the NRC in
determining the eppropriate
enforcement action, such as: (1) A
common understanding of facts, root
causes and missed opportunities
associated with the epperent violations,
(2) e common understanding of
corrective action taken or planned, and
(3) e common understanding of the
significance of issues and the need for
lasting comprehensive corrective ection.

If the NRC concludes that it has
sufficient information to make an
informed enforcemer.: decision, a
conferunce will not normally be heid
unless the licenses requests it. However,
an opportunity for s cunference will
normally be provided before issuing an
order based on a violation of the rule on
to 60 alnmnd pemsse. 55 conlomnsy
to an unlicensed pemson. If &

is not hald, the licensee will normally
be requesied to provide s writien .
respatiss (o an inspection report, |
issusd, as 10 the licenses's views on the
epparent violations and their root
causes and & description of planned or
{mplemented corrective action.

other persons will be given an
opportunity to provide information
consistent with the purpose of the
conference, including oo explanstion to
the NRC of the immec_«te corrective
actions (if any) that wers taken
following identification of the potential
violation or nonconformance and the
long-term comprehensive actions that
were taken or will be taken to prevent
recurrsnce. Licensess, vendors, or other
parsons will be told when s meeting (s
a predecisions! enforcement conference.

A predecisional enforcement
conference is & meeting between the
NRC and the licensee. Conferences are
normally held in the regional offices
and are not normally open to public
observstion. However, & trial program is
being conducted to open approximately
25 percent of all eligible conferences for
public observation, i.e., every fourth
eligible conference involving one of
three categories of licensees (reactor,
hospital, and other materials licensees)
will be open to the public. Conferences
will not normally be open to the public
if the enforcement action being
contemplated:

(1) Would be taken against an
individual, or if the sction, though not
taken against an individual, turns on
whether an individual has committed

doing:

(2) Lvohru significant personne!
failures where the NRC has requested
that the individual(s) involved be
present at the conference;

(3) Is based on the findings of an NRC
Office of Investigations report: or

(4) Involves safeguards information,
Privecy Act information, or information
which could be considered proprietary;

In eddition, conferences will not
normally be open to the public if:

(5) The conlerence involves medical
misadministrations or overexposures
and the conferencs cannot be conducted
without disclosing the exposed
individual's name; or

(6) The conference will be conducted
by telephone or the conference will be
conducted at & relatively small
licensee's facility.

Notwithstanding meeting any of these
criteria, 8 conference may still be open
if the conference involves 1ssues related
0 an ongoing adjudicatory proceeding
with one or maore intervenars or where
the evidentiary basis for the conference
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is & matter of record, such
e b peedep o iy

of Labor. In addition, with
the approval of the Exscutive Director
for Operations, conferences will not be
open to the public where good cause has
been shown after balancing the benefit
of the public cbservation the
poten

open to public observation as part of the
agency's triel program. Consistent with

the ' )
"SW s policy “;P‘"ﬂ‘f’unﬂ

published Se 20, 1994 (59 FR
48340), the NRC intends to announce
open conferences normally et least 10
working days in advence of conferences
through (1) notices posted {n the Public
Document Room, (2) a toll-free
telephone at 800-052-9674,
and (3) & toll-free e bulletin
board et 800-9852-96786. In addition, the
NRC will also issue & press relesese and
notify appropriste State liaison officers
that @ predecisional enforcement
conference has been scheduled end that
it is open to public observation.

The public sttending open
conferences under the trial p may
observe but not participate in m
conference. It is noted that the purpose
of conducting open conferences under
the triel program is not to maximize
public attendance, but rather to
determine whether providing the public
with oppertunities to be informed of
NRC activitics is compatible with the
NRC's ability to exercise its regulatory
and safety responsibilities. Therefore,
members of the public will be allowed
accese to the NRC regionel offices to
attend open enforcement conferences in
sccordance with the “Standard
Operating Procedures For Providing
Security Support For NRC Hearings And
Meetings,”’ published November 1, 1981
(56 FR 56251). These procedures
provide that visitors may be subject to
personnel screening, thet signs, banners,
posters, etc., not larger than 18" be
permitted, and that disruptive persons
may be removed.

Members of the public attending o
conferences will be reminded that “rn
the spparent violstions discussed at
predecisional enforcement conferences
are subject to further review and may be
subdject to change prior to any resulting
enforcement action and (2) the
statements of views or expressions of
opinion made by NRC employees st
predecisional enforcement conferences,
or the lack thereol, are not intended to
represent final determinations or beliefs.
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Persons sttending open conferences will  to be under oath. Normally, responses tavolvenient in licensed
be provided an opportunity to submit under osth will be required only in activities and & decrease in protection of
wﬂmmm‘h the at:lld mmwithm&nmy Level,Il,or  the public health end safety.
enon to I wi or
oﬂnmm”um, wﬂlt:'* The NRC uses the Notice of Violation 1+ Base Civil Penalty
forwarded to the Direcior uthounnlnuhodhhnmuﬂn’tho The NRC imposes diflerent levels of
of the Office of Enforcowment for review  existence of s violation. issuance of ties for different severity leve!
and Notice of Violation is normally the only  yiglations and different classes of
VWhen nesded to protect the public enforcument action taken, except in licensess, vendors. and other persons.
heelth and safety or common cases where the criterie for issusnce of  Tgbles 1A and 1B show the base civil
lﬂqu. ﬂml d"‘ .Mm.”wwin M‘m. btv"‘ou' m'qu.'

immadiately effective order, will be
taken before the conferencs. In thase
cases, 8 conference may be held efter the
escalated enforcement sction is taken.

V1. Enforcement Actions

This section describes the
enforcement sanctions svailable to the
NRC and specifies the conditions under
which each may be used. The besic
enforcement sanctions are Notices of
Violation, civil penalties, and orders of
various types. As di further in
Section VLD, related administrative
sctions such as Notices of
Nonconformarcs, Notices of Deviation,
Confirmatory Action Latters, Letters of
Reprimand, and Demands for
information are used to supplement the
enforcement program. In selecting the
enforcement sanctions or administrative
actions, the NRC wil! consider
enforcement actions taken by other
Federal or State reguiatory bodies
having concurrent junisdiction, such as
in transportation matters. Ususlly,
whenever a violation of NRC
requirements of more than 8 mino.
concem is identified, enforcement
action is taken. The nature and oxtent of
the enforcement action is intended to
reflect the seriousness of the violation
involved. For the vast majority of
violations, a Notice of Violation or &
Notice of Nonconformance is the normal
action.

A. Notice of Violation

A Notice of Violstion is & written
notice setting forth one or more
violations of a legelly binding
requirement. The Notice of Violation
normally requires the recipient to
provide a written statement describing
(1) the reasons for the violstion or, if
contested, the basis for disputing the
violation; (2) corrective steps that have
been taken and the results achieved: (3]
corrective steps that will be taken to
prevent recurrence: and (4) the date
when full compliance will be achieved
The NRC may waive all or portions of
8 written response to the extent relevant
.nformation has already been provided
to the NRC in writing or documented in
an NRC inspection report. The NRC may
require responses (o Notices of Violation

Sections V1.B and VLC, respectively, are
met. However, special circumstances
tegarding the violation findings may
warrent discretion being exercised such
that the NRC refrains from unutn“]
Notice of Vioiation. (See Section VILB,
“M.i igation of Enforcement Sanctions."’)
In tion, licensees ere not ordinarily
cited for viclations resulting from
maetters not within their control, such as
eguipment failures that were not
svoidable by reasonable licensee queality
ASSUTENCE Measures Of Mansgement
controls. Generally, however, licensees
are beld responsible for the acts of their
emplovees. Accordingly, this policy
should not be construed to excuse
personnel errors.

B. Civil Penalty

A civil penalty is 8 monetary penalty
that may be imposed for violation of (1)
certain specified licensing provisions of
the Atomic Energy Act or
supplementary NRC rules or orders; (2)
any requirement for which e license
may be revoked: or (3) reporting
requirements under section 206 of the
Energy Reorganization Act. Civil
penaities are designed to deter future
violations both by the involved licensee
as well as by other licensees conducting
similar activities and o emphasize the
need for licensees to identify violations
and take prompt compreheusive
corrective action.

Civil penalties are considered for
Severity Leve! [l violations. In addition,
civil penalties will normally be assessed
for Severity Level | and II violations and
knowing and conscious violations of the
reporting requirements of section 206 of
the Energy Reorganization Act,

Civil penalties sre used to encourage
prompt identification and prompt and
comprehensive correction of violations,
to emphasize compliance in 8 manner
that deters future violations, and to
serve 10 focus licensees’ attention on
violations of significant regulatory
concern.

Although management involvement,
direct or indirect, in a violetion may
lsad to an increese in the civil penaity,
the lack of management involvement
may not be used to mitigste & civil

ty. Allowing mitigation {n the
tter case could encourage the lack of

materials, and vendor p . (Civil
penaities issued to indivicuals are
determined on a case-by-case basis.) The
structure of these tables y takes
into account the gravity of the violstion
&s & primary considerstion and the
sbility to pey as & secondary
consideration. Generally, operstions
involving grester nuclear material
inventories and greater potential
consequences to the public end licensee
employees receive highar civil
penaities. Regarding the secondary
factor of ability of various classes of
licansees 1o pay the civil penaities, it is
not the NRC's intention that the
econamic impect of a civil penalty be so
severe that it puts & licensee out of
business (orders, rather than civil
penaities, are used when the intent is to
suspend or terminate licensed activities)
or adversely sffects & licensee's ability
to safely conduct licensed activities.
The deterrent effect of civil penasities is
best served when the amounts of the
penaluus take into sccount & licensee's
ability to pay. In determining the
amount of civil penaities for licensees
for whom the tebles do not reflect the
ebility to pay or the gravity of the
violation, the NRC will cansider as
necessary &n increase or decrease on &
case-by-case basis. Normally, if &
licensee can demonstrate financiel
hardship, the NRC will consider
payments over time, including interest,
rather than reducing the amount of the
civil penalty. However, where & licensee
claims finencial hardship, the licensee
will normally be required to address
why it has sufficient resources to ssfely
conduct licensed activities and pey
license and inspaction fees.

2. Civil Penalty Assessment

In an effort to (1) emphasize the
importance of adherence to
requirements and (2) reinforce prompt
self-identification of problems and root
causes and prompt and comprehengive
correction of violations. the NRC
reviews esch proposea . vil penaity on
its own merits and, after considering all
relevant CiIrCUrnsLances, may adjust the
base civil penaities shown in Table 1A
end 1B for Severity Level |, I, and [l
violations as described below.
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